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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Hammond Block stands on a triangular site created by the passage of a radial
avenue through the gridiron plan of downtown Indianapolis.

In plan, the building is an irregular polygon which approximates a trapezoid. The .
blank rear (north and east) elevations of the building meet the facades at right
angles and intersect in an obtuse angle. The main (south and northwest) elevations
intersect at obtuse angles a single bay which faces the street corner (southwest).

The Italianate style structure has three stories of red brick walls laid in common

bond on a high basement faced with rusticated 1imestone ashlar and capped with a smooth
ashlar water course. The walls are divided into panels by shallow brick pilasters;

a course of ashlar limestone forms a stringcourse at the sill line of the third

floor, and a course of square modillions terminates the panels above the third floor.

The building is capped by a bracketed cornice, panelled frieze, and prOJect1ng architrave
molding beneath a broad eave.

The tops of the pilasters are corbelled laterally beneath the architrave molding and are
expressed in the cornice by paired brackets. The lines of the pilasters were originally
extended above the cornice as tall chimneys with heavily molded caps; on the southwest,
the corners were crowned by decorated dies which enframed a tablet topped with a seg-
mented hood mold. The Tow hipped roof is still punctuated by the corbiesteps of the
parapets on the rear elevations. The pilasters divide the south elevation east to

west into two, two, and three bays; the northwest facade is divided north to south

into two, three, and three bays.

The main floor level was originally four feet above the grade of the sidewalk, and was
entered via exterior flying staircases which spanned the wells of the basement's windows
and entrances. On the :southwest corner, the principal entrance to the first floor was
approached from either side by a pair of staircases. The show windows and entrances

of the first floor were deeply recessed behind arcades of stilted segmental arches
supported by cast iron columns; only these features survived the lowering of the first
floor to street level and the walling in of all but two bays.

The fenestration pattern is largely intact. Although large rectangular openings now
fill the end bays of the first floor on the northwest, only one upper story window lacks
the original sash and glazing. Al1 sash are one-over-one double-hung, and one original.
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The cast iron lintels on the first floor are stilted hanse arches which make use of dif-
ferent radii for their top and bottom curvatures. The stop-chamfering of their lower
edges is interrupted at the apex to suggest a cornerstone; directly above, the smooth
face of the lintel is decorated with a round rosette. The tops of the window surrounds
are progressively rounded on each floor; those of the top story are semi-circular. The
round-arched windows of the upper stories are grouped within the panels of the facades by
common sills and by impost moldings that link the arched cast iron lintels, whose smooth
faces are capped by heavy hood molds. The surrounds of the second floor windows have
prominently projecting keystones whose smooth faces are inclined downward; on the third
floor, diamond-faced impost blocks are set beneath the filletted returns of the hood
moldings.

Apparently the southwest corner and the northwest facade along Massachusetts Avenue
were intended as the principal elevations. On the central panel of the northwest facade,
the center bays of the first and second floors have larger openings than those directly
adjacent. On the first floor, the larger opening and the reduced bays which flank it
are capped by lintels which match the design of those used otherwise on that level.

On the second floor bays directly above, however, the smaller flanking openings are
round-arched, but the central bay is crowned by a stilted segmental hanse arch cap over
a flat impost lintel, and the springline of this opening is higher than that of the
others on the second floor. Also, the opening beneath the impost lintel is divided
into a central window and narrower flanking sash with transoms by mullions whose smooth
faces are treated as profiled pilasters. A similar window is used on the second floor
of the southwest elevation. Unlike the other upper story windows, the lintels of these
second floor openings are devoid of hood molds, and are not Tinked at their springlines.

The building's most complex decorative forms are used on the cornice, which is made of
cast or galvanized iron. The brackets have smooth sides and recessed centers on their
edges; acanthus leaves cover the intersection with the architrave molding at their
bases. The frieze is divided into panels which correspond to the fenestration pattern
below. The center of each panel is filled by a diamond pattern formed by a rotated
square with a recessed center. On the southwest, the frieze bears in raised characters
the name "Hammond Block" flanked by the split date 1874. Between the brackets the eave
is supported by modillion blocks; shaped modillions are placed above the stiles of the
frieze panelling. The cornice is faced with a deep cyma recta profile.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Hammond Block was built in 1874 by Rezin R. Hammond, who sold the building a year
later to J. Swigart, a physician and surgeon who used the structure as both office and -

residence.
property became Lee Quaon's Laundry.

By 1886 John Whitson's saloon occupied the building; the next year the
At this point the most significant occupant of

the Hammond Block took up residence; the Central- College of Physicians and Surgeons

conducted classes on the second and third floors until 1891.

“directories are incomplete for the property.
has housed Budnick's Trading Mart.

v

Entries in later city
For the last forty years the building

The building is architecturally significant as an example of the triangular and

trapezoidal plans which result from Indianapolis'

radial avenues.

Few examples of

this type survive, since the site constraints resulted in buildings whose limited
floor areas made most of them economically infeasible to maintain.

The design is also a unique example of the Italianate style during the High Victorian

era (1865-1893).

The use of hanse arch forms on the first floor, the slightly haunched

Tintels on the second floor, and the polychrome effect originally produced by the
horizontal bondings of window surrounds, impost moldings, and string-and sill coursings
set against the red brick walls all show the influence of the contemporaneous Ruskinian

Gothic mode.

The result is a stylistic hybrid whose formal complexity is indicative

of the period, and foreshadows via a classical vocabulary the medieval extravagances
of the later Queen Anne and Eastlake styles. .

ot
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

At the northeast corner of.the intersection of Massachusetts and New York Avenues, part
of the southwest part of Lot 7 of the original plat of Indianapolis, (see continuation she
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such part extending 72 feet northeast along Massachusetts Avenue and 68 feet
east along New York Avenue, then proceeding at right angles to those streets
to intersect in an obtuse angle within said Lot 7.



